
Department of Planning  
& Community Development 

Franklin County Board of Zoning Appeals 

Agenda 

February 3, 2026 

I. Call to Order

II. Roll Call

III. Consent Agenda
a) Approval of Minutes from December 2, 2026, Meeting

IV. Election of Chair and Vice-Chair

V. Public Hearing: APPLICATION for VARIANCE – Application of Melissa and Aaron
Tolliver, Applicants and Owners, requesting a variance to Section 25 – 182 (b) (side 
setback), for a variance of 3’8” to reduce the side yard setback from 10’ feet to 6’4” 
to allow for the construction of a 10’x27’ bedroom extension and 8’x26’ concrete 
covered entrance for ADA access, on an approximate 0.46 acres of property zoned A-
1, Agricultural District. The property is located at 544 Power Dam Road in the Snow 
Creek election district of Franklin County and further identified by real estate records 
as Tax Map/Parcel # 0640006500 (VAR-01-26-18467). 

VI. Open Floor Citizen Comment

VII. Adjourn





 
 

Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 
A meeting of the Franklin County Board of Zoning Appeals was held on 
December 2, 2025, in the Board of Supervisors room located at the Franklin 
County Government Center. 

 

THOSE PRESENT: 

Kevin Hunt 

Brian Mangano 

Wayne Worley  

William D.S. Lee – Chair 

 

OTHERS PRESENT: 

Samantha Conner – Clerk  

Lisa Cooper – Zoning Administrator 

Chris Dadak-Zoning Administrator Counsel 

Eric Ferguson – BZA Counsel 

Tina Franklin – Planner II 

 

THOSE ABSENT: 

William Cooper 

Billy Kingery-Vice Chair 

 

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Lee at 6:02 p.m. 
 
The first order of business was the approval of the November 6, 2025, minutes. All 
members agreed to approve the minutes as written. 
 
The next item on the agenda was the continuation of the Shelhamer application 
that the BZA tabled at their November 6, 2025, meeting: APPLICATION for VARIANCE 
– Application of Thomas Shelhamer, Applicant and Owner, requesting a variance 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

2 
 

to Section 25 – 182 (b) (side setback), for a variance of 5’4” (five feet, four inches) 
to reduce the side yard setback from 12’ (twelve) feet to 6’8” (six feet, eight inches) 
to allow for the construction of a single-family dwelling, on an approximate 1.17 
acres of property zoned A-1, Agricultural District. The property is located at 409 
Greenhouse Road in the Union Hall election district of Franklin County and further 
identified by real estate records as Tax Map/Parcel # 0460500500 (VAR-10-25-
18411). 
 
Ms. Franklin gave an update on the status of the application. She explained that 
the dispute between the neighbors had not been resolved. Mr. Gene Gress’s 
attorney, Jim Gilbert, asked the BZA via email to table the matter until January or 
until the lawsuit was resolved. 
 
Mr. Ferguson stated that there was no indication of when the lawsuit could be 
resolved; it could be 30 days or even longer. 
 
Mr. Mangano stated that Mr. Shelhamer has not responded to the lawsuit. He 
explained that this could result in default judgement. 
 
Mr. Ferguson agreed that the court could end the case with default judgment. 
 
Mr. Mangano stated that the opposing counsel’s email indicates that the case 
could result in default judgment sooner rather than later. 
 
Mr. Lee asked Mr. Ferguson that if the BZA did not grant the variance if it would still 
go to court. Mr. Ferguson confirmed that it would still go to court. 
 
Mr. Lee stated that he believed that the BZA needed to make a decision on this 
case tonight and let the case play out in court. 
 
Mr. Lee made a motion to deny the variance request. Mr. Hunt seconded the 
motion. 
 
A roll call vote was taken. The motion to deny the variance request was approved; 
3-1-2-0 voting was as follows: 

AYES: Hunt, Worley, Lee 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

3 
 

NAYES: Mangano 
ABSENT: Cooper, Kingery 
ABSTAIN: None 
 

Mr. Shelhamer stated that only at 10:00am that morning did he receive an email 
from Mr. Dadak who was emailed by Mr. Gilbert asking the BZA to put the 
application on hold due to the pending litigation. He stated that he was not privy 
to any pending court action against him until that morning’s email. 
 
Mr. Shelhamer explained that the papers were served to someone at a residence 
in West Virginia that he hadn’t lived at in three (3) months. He stated that he was 
not served. Mr. Shelhamer stated that if he had not gone to the Clerk’s office this 
morning, he would not have known about the papers served to the wrong address. 
 
Mr. Mangano asked Mr. Shelhamer if he had heard the BZA discussing the pending 
litigation at the November 6, 2025, meeting. Mr. Mangano argued that Mr. 
Shelhamer was made aware of the lawsuit at the November BZA meeting. 
 
Mr. Shelhamer stated that he had not received or signed anything, though he was 
present for the November 6th BZA meeting. He stated he is working to hire an 
attorney. 
 
Mr. Mangano asked if Mr. Shelhamer thought that the November 6th discussions of 
the pending litigation was inaccurate. Mr. Shelhamer stated that there was no 
documentation, only what was being shared by word of mouth. He explained that 
he tried to work toward a solution with Mr. Gress. 
 
Mr. Shelhamer explained that Mr. Gilbert has not responded to any of Mr. 
Shelhamer’s emails and the only email that made him aware of the lawsuit was the 
one sent by Mr. Dadak. 
 
Mr. Lee asked Mr. Ferguson to explain what options Mr. Shelhamer had since the 
BZA had already taken action on the variance request. 
 
Mr. Ferguson stated that he believed Mr. Shelhamer was aware of the pending 
litigation and it would be in his best interest to see an attorney. He explained that 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

4 
 

Mr. Shelhamer could also have legal action against the BZA. 
 
Mr. Shelhamer asked if there was anything conditional that the BZA could do. Mr. 
Lee stated that there was not. 
 
Mr. Ferguson stated that Mr. Shelhamer would need to proceed through the court 
system. 
 
Mr. Shelhamer left the podium. 
 
Ms. Conner made an announcement that Ms. Washington had resigned from the 
BZA and the Circuit Court was working toward finding a replacement. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 6:13pm. 








































